**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 16-1290**

**BRIAN JAMES MAXWELL,
Petitioner-Appellant**

vs.

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
Respondent-Appellee**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY,
HONORABLE LAWRENCE P. MCLELLAN**

**PETITIONER-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL
ARGUMENT**

Brandon Brown
Gina Messamer
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn
Boles Gribble Gentry
Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: bbrown@parrishlaw.com
gmessamer@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

John Lundquist
Iowa Department of Public Safety
Hoover State Office Building,
2nd Floor

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Iowa Code § 692A.103 does not require a convicted defendant to enroll on the Sex Offender Registry when probation is contingent on the completion of the term of imprisonment and the underlying criminal judgment has been stayed pending appeal.

Anderson v. State, 801 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2011)

First Nat. Bank of Glidden v. Matt Bauer Farms Corp., 408 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 1987)

Hawkeye Land Co. v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 847 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 2014)

In Interest of S.M.M., 558 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa 1997)

In re Det. of Selby, 710 N.W.2d 249 (Iowa Ct. App. 2005)

McGill v. Fish, 790 N.W.2d 113 (Iowa 2010)

Oyens Feed & Supply, Inc. v. Primebank, 808 N.W.2d 186 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Friend, 236 N.W. 20 (1931)

State v. Halverson, 857 N.W.2d 632 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Story Cty., 843 N.W.2d 76 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Kamber, 737 N.W.2d 297 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Nicoletto, 845 N.W.2d 421 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Pickens, 558 N.W.2d 396 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Reiter, 601 N.W.2d 372 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Wedelstedt, 213 N.W.2d 652 (Iowa 1973)

State v. Welton, 300 N.W.2d 157 (Iowa 1981)

SZ Enterprises, LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 850 N.W.2d 441 (Iowa 2014)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents the issue of whether an individual convicted of a sex offense is required to enroll on the Sex Offender Registry during the pendency of the individual's criminal appeal when probation is contingent upon the completion of the term of imprisonment, the individual has tendered an appeal bond, and the criminal judgment has been stayed pending appeal. The answer to this question turns on the interpretation of Iowa Code § 692A.103(1).

This statutory question is a substantial issue of first impression and should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). As the Polk County District Court noted, "There is no question that section 692A.103 does not speak explicitly to the factual situation presented by this case." (47/16 Order at 5). The issue presented by this case is also of broad public importance both because "purpose of the registry is protection of the health and safety of individuals, and particularly children," *State v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Story Cty.*, 843 N.W.2d 76, 81 (Iowa 2014), and because individuals convicted of sex crimes need to know with certainty their obligations to register lest they be prosecuted for failing to comply with the requirements of Chapter 692A, *see State v. Reiter*, 601 N.W.2d 372, 373 (Iowa 1999) ("It is well established that penal statutes must give fair

warning of the conduct prohibited[.]”). These interests call for a prompt resolution of this statutory question by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

CASE STATEMENT

On May 11, 2015, Mr. Maxwell was found guilty of Lascivious Conduct with a Minor, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.14. (App. 22, ¶¶ 4–5). Immediately after his sentencing on August 18, 2015, Mr. Maxwell filed a Notice of Appeal and posted an appeal bond. (App. 23, ¶¶ 10, 12).

Mr. Maxwell subsequently filed a Petition for Judicial Review and Application for Injunctive Relief in the instant case asking the Polk County District Court to enjoin the Iowa Department of Public Safety (“DPS”) from placing him on the Sex Offender Registry during the pendency of his criminal appeal. (App. 4-5, ¶ 22). The Polk County District Court concluded that Mr. Maxwell was required to register as of the date of his sentencing. (App. 101-02). Mr. Maxwell now appeals that ruling.

FACTS

I. Underlying Facts

On May 11, 2015, the Madison County District Court entered a ruling finding Mr. Maxwell guilty of Lascivious Conduct with a Minor, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.14 in Madison County Case No. SRCR107912. (App. 22, ¶¶ 4–5). Mr. Maxwell was not in custody during

the pendency of Case No. SRCR107912, nor did he serve any time in jail prior to the Madison County District Court's imposition of sentence. (App. 95). The Madison County District Court sentenced Mr. Maxwell on August 18, 2015 at 3:01 p.m., imposing a 1-year sentence and further specified that "after Defendant has served one hundred twenty (120) days of the sentence, the remainder is suspended and Defendant is placed on probation for a period of two (2) years." (App. 22-23, ¶¶ 6–9).

Even before the sentencing judgment had been filed, Mr. Maxwell filed a Notice of Appeal. (App. 23, ¶ 10 (appeal filed at 2:47 p.m. on August 18, 2015)). Mr. Maxwell also posted an appeal bond at 3:12 p.m. on August 18, 2015. (App. 23, ¶ 12).

On August 20, 2015, the 5th Judicial District Department of Correctional Services ("DCS") notified Mr. Maxwell's counsel via email that Mr. Maxwell would not be required to report for probation or register with the Sex Offender Registry. (App. 23, ¶ 13).

The Madison County District Court entered an Order Nunc Pro Tunc on August 27, 2015 modifying Mr. Maxwell's sentencing order to strike from the original order language stating "Defendant shall not contact any person under the age of 18 or work or volunteer for any organizations that involve people under the age of 18." (App. 23, ¶¶ 14–15). The Madison

County District Court clarified that an Order of Protection entered on August 24, 2015 “contains the controlling directives with respect to the no contact order.” (App. 23, ¶¶ 14–15).

DPS mailed Mr. Maxwell a correspondence dated September 24, 2015 informing him that he was required to register on the Sex Offender Registry. (App. 23, ¶¶ 16). Mr. Maxwell reported to the Madison County Sheriff’s Department to complete the sex offender registration process on October 12, 2015. (12/31/15 Stipulation at 2, 17–24).

On or about October 14, 2015, Mr. Maxwell mailed an Application for Determination to the DPS Division of Criminal Investigation, Sex Offender Registry. (App. 23, ¶¶ 15–16). On December 30, 2015, DPS issued a Decision of Determination that concluded Mr. Maxwell is required to register despite his pending appeal. (App. 65).

II. Petition for Judicial Review and Application for Injunctive Relief

On October 23, 2015, Mr. Maxwell filed a Petition for Judicial Review and Application for Injunctive Relief in the instant case. (App. 1). Mr. Maxwell asked the Polk County District Court to enjoin DPS from placing him on the Sex Offender Registry during the pendency of his criminal appeal in Case No. SRCR107912. (App. 4-5).

The Polk County District Court issued a decision on Mr. Maxwell's Petition for Judicial Review and Application for Injunctive Relief on April 7, 2016. (App. 76). In that order, the Polk County District Court erroneously found that "Maxwell had served one hundred and twenty (120) days of the sentence." (App. 82). The Polk County District Court thus believed the Madison County District Court's sentencing order had "released" Mr. Maxwell and that Mr. Maxwell was placed on probation as of the date of sentencing. (App. 83-84 ("He was released from incarceration by the district court when his sentence was suspended and he was placed on probation. On that same date he was placed on probation.")). Based on that misperception, the Polk County District Court incorrectly concluded Mr. Maxwell's duty to register was triggered on the date of sentencing. (App. 85).

Mr. Maxwell pointed out the Polk County District Court's misapprehension of the facts in his April 22, 2016 Motion to Enlarge or Amend Findings and to Reconsider. (App. 87). DPS "agree[d] with Maxwell that the Court's finding that Maxwell had already served 120 days of incarceration prior to sentencing in his criminal case appears to be in error and should be amended." (App. 92, ¶ 2).

The Polk County District Court accordingly issued an order on June 29, 2016 acknowledging that Mr. Maxwell has not served any time in custody. (App. 97-98, 100). The Polk County District Court commented:

The court erred in its prior ruling on the petition for judicial review when it stated Maxwell was on probation immediately following sentencing. Maxwell had not served the unsuspended 120-days of his one year sentence and therefore was not yet on probation. The agency committed this same factual error. DPS ruled that Maxwell was to register because he was placed on probation on August 18, 2015.

(App. 100). Nevertheless, the Polk County District Court reaffirmed its conclusion that Mr. Maxwell was required to register as of the date of his sentencing. (App. 101-102).

Mr. Maxwell subsequently filed a Second Motion to Enlarge or Amend Findings and to Reconsider, (App. 104), which the Polk County District Court denied, (App. 108). Mr. Maxwell timely appealed. (App. 110).

III. New Criminal Charges

While Mr. Maxwell's Petition for Judicial Review and Application for Injunctive Relief was pending, the State charged Mr. Maxwell in Polk County Case No. AGCR293592 with three counts of "Failure to Comply Sex Offender Registry, Exclusion Zones," in violation of Iowa Code §§ 692A.111 and 692A.113. (Case No. AGCR293592 3/11/16 Criminal Complaint; Case No. AGCR293592 5/3/16 Trial Information). These

charges are currently pending, with trial scheduled for May 8, 2017. (Case No. AGCR293592 8/11/16 Order).

IOWA CODE § 692A.103 DOES NOT REQUIRE A CONVICTED DEFENDANT TO ENROLL ON THE SEX OFFENDER REGISTRY WHEN PROBATION IS CONTINGENT ON THE COMPLETION OF THE TERM OF IMPRISONMENT AND THE UNDERLYING CRIMINAL JUDGMENT HAS BEEN STAYED PENDING APPEAL

I. Preservation & Standard of Review

Mr. Maxwell exhausted his administrative remedies by submitting an Application for Determination to DPS, (App. 23, ¶¶ 15–16), and receiving an adverse decision, (App. 65). Mr. Maxwell presented this issue to the Polk County District Court, (App. 1; App. 22; App. 87; App. 104), and received a ruling on the merits, (App. 76; App. 96; App. 108).

This appeal turns on the interpretation of Iowa Code § 692A.103(1). The Polk County District Court correctly found that the legislature did not clearly vest DPS with interpretive authority over Iowa Code Chapter 692A. (App. 78-80; App. 98-100). Accordingly, review is for correction of errors at law. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c); accord *SZ Enterprises, LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 850 N.W.2d 441, 449 (Iowa 2014). If the Court concludes the “substantial rights of the person seeking judicial relief have been prejudiced because the agency action is . . . [b]ased on an erroneous interpretation of a

provision of law,” the Court may reverse the agency’s decision. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c).

II. Applicable Code Sections

Iowa Code Chapter 692A governs the Sex Offender Registry and associated restrictions on those who are required to register.¹ Iowa Code § 692A.103(1) sets forth when “a person who has been convicted of a sex offense” is required to register as a sex offender.² That section “prescribes who is covered by the registration requirements”; it does not grant a district court discretion to decide who is covered. *In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d 405, 407 (Iowa 1997). Iowa Code § 692A.103(1) states:

A sex offender shall, upon a first or subsequent conviction, register in compliance with the procedures specified in this chapter, for the duration of time specified in this chapter, commencing as follows:

- a. From the date of placement on probation.
- b. From the date of release on parole or work release.
- c. From the date of release from incarceration.
- d. Except as otherwise provided in this section, from the date an adjudicated delinquent is released from placement in a juvenile facility ordered by a court pursuant to section 232.52.
- e. Except as otherwise provided in this section, from the date an adjudicated delinquent commences attendance as

¹ Prior to 2009, Chapter 692A contained sections numbered 1 through 16. Chapter 692A was repealed in its entirety in 2009 by 2009 Acts, ch. 119 § 31 and replaced with sections 101 through 130, *id.* §§ 1–30.

² Mr. Maxwell does not dispute that he is a “person who has been convicted of a sex offense” for purposes of § 692A.103(1).

a student at a public or private educational institution, other than an educational institution located on the real property of a juvenile facility if the juvenile has been ordered placed at such facility pursuant to section 232.52. f. From the date of conviction for a sex offense requiring registration if probation, incarceration, or placement ordered pursuant to section 232.52 in a juvenile facility is not included in the sentencing, order, or decree of the court, except as otherwise provided in this section for juvenile cases.

Iowa Code § 692A.103(1).

Failure to comply with the restrictions of Chapter 692A triggers criminal liability. *Id.* § 692A.111 (setting forth criminal penalties for noncompliance). Specifically, Iowa Code § 692A.111 imposes criminal liability on “A sex offender who violates any requirements of [several sections of Chapter 692A].” Chapter 692A defines “sex offender” as “a person who is required to be registered under this chapter.” *Id.* § 692A.101(26). Accordingly, if a person is not required to register under Chapter 692A, that person cannot be prosecuted for failing to comply with the other requirements of Chapter 692A.

Although the registration requirements of Chapter 692A have been characterized by the Iowa Supreme Court as “remedial” and “motivated by a concern for public safety,” *State v. Pickens*, 558 N.W.2d 396, 400 (Iowa 1997), it nevertheless remains that Chapter 692A imposes criminal liability on those who are required to register under that chapter and fail to comply

with its restrictions. Acknowledging this harsh reality, the Iowa Supreme Court has “construed strictly” the duties imposed by Chapter 692A. *Reiter*, 601 N.W.2d at 373 (rejecting State’s argument that Chapter 692A should be “liberally interpret[ed]” due to the public safety concerns underlying registration process).

III. Applicable Interpretive Principles

Because Chapter 692A imposes criminal liability, interpretive principles applicable to criminal statutes govern here. As summarized in *Reiter*:

In construing statutes, we search for intent from what the legislature said, rather than what it should or might have said. Iowa R. App. P. [6.904(3)(m)]. It is well established that penal statutes must give fair warning of the conduct prohibited and are to be construed strictly, with doubt resolved in favor of the accused.

601 N.W.2d at 373 (internal citations omitted); *accord State v. Halverson*, 857 N.W.2d 632, 637 (Iowa 2015) (“To the extent there is an unresolved ambiguity, [Iowa] cases require a narrow construction of the statute.”); *State v. Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d 577, 585 (Iowa 2011) (“It has also been maintained that the rule of lenity is necessary to promote democratic responsiveness in the establishment of crimes.”); *State v. Welton*, 300 N.W.2d 157, 160 (Iowa 1981) (“If a criminal statute is ambiguous, courts resolve any doubt in favor of the accused.”).

IV. Interpretation of Iowa Code § 692A.103(1)

Iowa Code § 692A.103(1) provides, “A sex offender shall, upon a first or subsequent conviction, register in compliance with the procedures specified in this chapter, for the duration of time specified in this chapter, commencing as follows[. . ..]” Following that sentence are six alternative triggering events, labeled (a) through (f). Those triggering events, then, set the date upon which an individual must register and also start the clock for the “duration of registration” period. *See id.* § 692A.106(1) (standard “duration of registration” is for a period of ten years). It is logical that the legislature would tie the date of registration and the “duration of registration” start date together; it would make no sense if a person was required to register at some point prior to when registration began to count against the “duration of registration” period. Obviously, a person’s “duration of registration” would be longer than the statutorily prescribed period if that person had to register at some point prior to when they began receiving credit against their “duration of registration.”

Iowa Code § 692A.103(2) further evidences the legislature’s understanding that date on which an individual is required to register is the same date as the “duration of registration” start date. That section states, “A sex offender is not required to register while incarcerated. However, the

running of the period of registration is tolled . . . if a sex offender is incarcerated.” *Id.* § 692A.103(2) demonstrates that the legislature anticipated some incarcerated individuals might register before they were required to by § 692A.103(1). To ensure that incarcerated individuals did not receive credit towards their “duration of registration” before they were required to register, the legislature specifically tolled the running of the period of registration.

The next stage of the analysis requires closer examination of the specified triggering events. Again, Iowa Code § 692A.103(1) sets forth six alternative events that “commenc[e]” a sex offender’s duty to register. It must be remembered that “legislative intent is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion of statutory terms.” *Oyens Feed & Supply, Inc. v. Primebank*, 808 N.W.2d 186, 193 (Iowa 2011). Likewise, “the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of other things not specifically mentioned.” *Hawkeye Land Co. v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 847 N.W.2d 199, 210 (Iowa 2014) (internal quotation marks omitted). By specifying a list of triggering events rather than issuing a blanket rule that the duty to register inheres upon judgment, the legislature indicated that the triggering events are limited in nature.

Alternative (b) is the “date of release on parole or work release,” which plainly does not apply. Alternatives (d) and (e) govern adjudicated

delinquents and also plainly do not apply to Mr. Maxwell. This leaves alternatives (a), (c), and (f) for discussion.

A. *Alternative (a): “date of placement on probation”*

Iowa Code § 692A.103(1)(a) provides that “the date of placement on probation” triggers a sex offender’s duty to register. Mr. Maxwell was never placed on probation and thus does not fall under alternative (a). The sentencing order states that “*after Defendant has served one hundred twenty (120) days of the sentence, the remainder is suspended and Defendant is placed on probation for a period of two (2) years.*” (App. 22, ¶ 6 (emphasis added)). The plain language of the sentencing order demonstrates that service of 120 days imprisonment is a condition precedent to Mr. Maxwell’s placement on probation. Because Mr. Maxwell’s term of imprisonment has been stayed by his appeal bond, he will not serve any of his 120 days imprisonment until his criminal appeal has concluded. Thus, only *after* his criminal appeal has concluded and (assuming arguendo he is unsuccessful) *after* he has he has served 120 days imprisonment will he be placed on probation.

DPS argued below that the stay of Mr. Maxwell’s incarceration due to his posting of an appeal bond rendered him “subject to immediate probation placement.” (App. 61). This is patently incorrect for several reasons. First

and foremost, DPS cites no authority for the proposition that a stay of imprisonment would accelerate a defendant's probation obligation. This is simply not the case. It would be illogical for a *stay* of one type of punishment to *trigger* another type of punishment. Moreover, there is no legal support for the idea that an appeal bond and corresponding stay can eliminate an express condition precedent in a sentencing order.

Second, Mr. Maxwell's appeal bond "stay[ed] the execution of judgment," Iowa Code § 814.13; *see also State v. Friend*, 236 N.W. 20, 22–23 (1931) ("Without the bail, the state will immediately compel the defendant to execute the sentence or pay the fine. When the bail is furnished, such execution is suspended until after the appeal is terminated. Here in the matter before us the defendant, by posting the bond, obtained his liberty, as before explained."). Mr. Maxwell's placement on probation is but one piece of the "execution of judgment" and therefore was included in the stay obtained via Mr. Maxwell's appeal bond. Further, the Iowa Rules of Criminal Procedure confirm that "[a]n order placing the defendant on probation may be stayed if an appeal is taken." Iowa. R. Crim. P. 2.26(2)(c).

Third and finally, DCS has confirmed Mr. Maxwell is not required to report for probation during the pendency of his appeal. (12/31/15 Stipulation at 1, 13). For these reasons, DPS can find no succor in alternative (a).

B. Alternative (c): “date of release from incarceration”

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