**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**NO. 16-1290**

---

**BRIAN JAMES MAXWELL,**

**Petitioner - Appellant,**

**vs.**

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY,**

**Respondent - Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
HONORABLE LAWRENCE P. MCLELLAN, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY'S  
FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

**THOMAS J. MILLER  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA**

**JOHN R. LUNDQUIST  
Assistant Attorneys General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
Ph: (515) 281-3658  
Fax: (515) 281-4209  
E-mail: [john.lundquist@iowa.gov](mailto:john.lundquist@iowa.gov)**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. MAXWELL'S PENDING APPEAL OF HIS LASCIVIOUS CONDUCT CONVICTION DID NOT STAY OR OTHERWISE DEFER HIS OBLIGATION TO REGISTER AS A SEX OFFENDER UNDER IOWA CODE CHAPTER 692A.**

Standard of Review: The Court's standard of review is to correct errors of law committed by the district court. *E.g., Houck v. Iowa Bd. of Pharmacy Exam'rs*, 752 N.W.2d 14, 16 (Iowa 2008); *Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health*, 641 N.W.2d 823, 830 (Iowa 2002). When scrutinizing the propriety of a district court's judicial review ruling, the Court applies the standards of Iowa Code section 17A.19(10) to the



challenged agency action to determine whether its conclusions are the same as those of the district court. *Litterer v. Judge*, 644 N.W.2d 357, 360-61 (Iowa 2002); *see Greenwood Manor*, 641 N.W.2d at 830. Because this case does not arise from the Department’s conduct of a contested case hearing, the Court should apply the scope and standard of review applicable to the review of “other agency action.” *See Greenwood Manor*, 641 N.W.2d at 834.

Maxwell asserts prejudice on the grounds that the Department acted contrary to Iowa Code section 692A.103 and/or improperly applied this code section to the uncontested facts of this case when it determined that Maxwell was required to register as a sex offender while his criminal conviction was on appeal. Reviewing courts are to give appropriate deference to those matters vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c), (l) & (m), 17A.19(11); *see, e.g., Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10-14 (Iowa 2010).

Although the Department is vested with a degree of authority to interpret Iowa Code chapter 692A to determine which criminal convictions require registration as a sex offender (*see* Iowa Code §§ 692A.116, 692A.118(3) & (4)), the Department’s interpretation of Iowa Code section

692A.103 – and specifically the word “release” – can be affirmed even upon *de novo* review under the less deferential correction of errors of law standard.<sup>2</sup> See Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(c); see, e.g., *City of Coralville v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 750 N.W.2d 523, 527 (Iowa 2008) (applying Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)(c)). As the agency statutorily designated to determine a sex offender’s registration status, the Department’s application of law to fact is entitled to heightened deference in this matter and may only be reversed if irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(m); see Iowa Code § 692A.116 (determination of requirement to register); e.g., *State v. Bullock*, 638 N.W.2d 728, 735 (Iowa 2002) (“the determination of the length of any required registration is an administrative decision initially committed to the Department of Public Safety”).

Ultimately, “[t]he burden of demonstrating the required prejudice and the invalidity of agency action is on the party asserting invalidity.” Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)(a). It is, therefore, Maxwell’s burden to demonstrate that the Department’s determination was entered in violation of applicable law

---

<sup>2</sup> If interpretative authority has been clearly vested with the Department, its legal interpretations are entitled to heightened deference and may only be reversed when the interpretation is irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable. Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(l); e.g., *Houck*, 752 N.W.2d at 16-17.

and prejudiced his rights. *See Hill v. Fleetguard, Inc.*, 705 N.W.2d 665, 671 (Iowa 2005).

Preservation of Error: The question of whether the Department correctly concluded that Maxwell was required to register as a sex offender while his lascivious conduct conviction was on appeal was raised before and decided by the District Court, and is therefore preserved for appellate review. (*See* Petition; 4/7/2016 Order; 6/29/2016 Order; App. 1-6, 96-103).

Argument: The Department correctly determined that Maxwell is required to register under Iowa Code chapter 692A during the pendency of his criminal appeal. The Iowa Sex Offender Registry exists to promote community safety through the dissemination of public information. A person's obligation to register as a sex offender in Iowa is triggered by that person's conviction for an enumerated sex offense coupled with residency, employment, or school attendance within the state.

It is undisputed that Petitioner Maxwell stands convicted of engaging in lascivious conduct with a minor, an enumerated sex offense. Maxwell resides in Madison County. Maxwell is not incarcerated. Rather, Maxwell was released from serving his term of incarceration by the posting of an appeal bond. Accordingly, Maxwell's duty to register as a sex offender

immediately accrued despite the fact that his criminal case was appealed. *See* Iowa Code § 692A.103(1)(c); *In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d 405 (Iowa 1997). To find otherwise will defeat the public safety purposes for implementing a sex offender registry.

### ***Overview of Sex Offender Registry***

The Department is mandated by law to maintain a central registry of information collected from persons required by Iowa law to register as sex offenders. Iowa Code § 692A.118. Sex offender registration is not a sentencing issue within the purview of a criminal court, but rather is an administrative function delegated to the Department's jurisdiction. *See, e.g., Kruse v. Iowa Dist. Court for Howard County*, 712 N.W.2d 695, 699 (Iowa 2006) (“[I]t is the operative command of the statutes . . . that impose the registration requirement on the convicted party rather than the judgment of the court.”). Thus, all persons convicted of any of the statutorily delineated criminal offenses involving sexual misconduct shall register as sex offenders in the state of Iowa. Iowa Code §§ 692A.102, 692A.103, 692A.106.

Specifically, “[a] person who has been convicted of any sex offense classified as a tier I, tier II, or tier III offense . . . shall register as a sex

offender as provided in this chapter if the offender *resides*, is employed, or attends school in this state.” Iowa Code § 692A.103(1) (emphasis added). Iowa law defines a qualifying “sex offense” within the context of Iowa Code chapter 692A to include “an indictable offense for which a conviction has been entered that is enumerated in section 692A.102 . . . .” Iowa Code § 692A.101(27). “A sex offender shall appear in person to register with the sheriff of each county where the offender has a residence, maintains employment, or is in attendance as a student, within five business days of being required to register under section 692A.103 . . . .” Iowa Code § 692A.104(1).

For registry purposes, a person stands “convicted” of a sex offense if he “is found guilty of, pleads guilty to, or is sentenced or adjudicated delinquent for an act which is an indictable offense in this state or in another jurisdiction . . . . ‘Convicted’ does not mean a plea, sentence, adjudication, deferred sentence, or deferred judgment which has been reversed or otherwise set aside.” Iowa Code § 692A.101(7). In most cases, a person convicted of a qualifying sex offense is required to register for a period of ten years that commences alternatively:

- a. From the date of placement on probation.
- b. From the date of release on parole or work release.
- c. From the date of release from incarceration.
- ....
- f. From the date of conviction for a sex offense requiring registration if probation, incarceration, or placement ordered pursuant to section 232.52 in a juvenile facility is not included in the sentencing, order, or decree of the court . . . .

Iowa Code §§ 692A.103(1), 692A.106(1). A person is not required to register as a sex offender while incarcerated. Iowa Code § 692A.103(2).

A person may petition the Iowa Department of Public Safety for a determination as to whether that person is obligated under Iowa law to register as a sex offender. Iowa Code § 692A.116; *see also* 661 Iowa Admin. Code § 83.3(5). Within 90 days of the filing of such a request and receipt of all required supporting documents, the Department is to determine whether that person was in fact convicted of a registrable sex offense. Iowa Code § 692A.116; 661 Iowa Admin. Code § 83.3(6). The Iowa Legislature has delegated no authority or discretion to the Department to waive or otherwise ignore the statutory registration requirements. Thus, as the Legislature has mandated, all persons convicted of a qualifying sex offense

shall register as a sex offender for the time period specified by law. Iowa Code §§ 692A.103 & 104.

***Registration Intended to Protect, Not Punish***

The goal of any statutory interpretation is to give effect to the legislative intent of a statute. *E.g., Ackelson v. Manley Toy Direct, L.L.C.*, 832 N.W.2d 678, 687 (Iowa 2013); *Andover Volunteer Fire Dep't v. Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance Co.*, 787 N.W.2d 75, 81 (Iowa 2010); *State v. Schultz*, 604 N.W.2d 60, 62 (Iowa 1999). An interpretation should be sought that “will advance, rather than defeat, the statute’s purpose.” *Schultz*, 604 N.W.2d at 62.

This Court has held that the purpose of Iowa Code chapter 692A is clear: “to require registration of sex offenders and thereby protect society from those who because of probation, parole, *or other release* are given access to members of the public.” *In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408 (emphasis added); *see also State v. Iowa Dist. Court ex rel. Story County*, 843 N.W.2d 76, 81 (Iowa 2014) (“the purpose of the registry is protection of the health and safety of individuals, and particularly children, from individuals who, by virtue of probation, parole, *or other release*, have been given access to members of the public”); *State v. Pickens*, 558 N.W.2d 396,

400 (Iowa 1997) (“the statute was motivated by concern for public safety, not to increase the punishment”). Thus, Iowa Code chapter 692A’s registration requirements were not enacted to punish perpetrators, but to promote public safety through the dissemination of information. *See, e.g., Pickens*, 558 N.W.2d at 400; *In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408.

Therefore, any alleged ambiguities in Iowa’s sex offender law or its application to a particular offender should be resolved in favor of furthering public safety by requiring continued registration. Iowa Code § 4.4(5) (“Public interest is favored over any private interest”); *see Teamsters Local Union No. 421 v. City of Dubuque*, 706 N.W.2d 709, 717 (Iowa 2005).

Maxwell cites to *State v. Reiter*, 601 N.W.2d 372 (Iowa 1999), for the proposition that Iowa Code chapter 692A must be strictly construed in its entirety because certain violations by registered sex offenders are subject to criminal liability. The Court in *Reiter*, however, only found that the specific penalty clauses of the sex offender statute are to be strictly construed. *See Reiter*, 601 N.W.2d at 373-74. The *Reiter* Court did not find that registration requirements in general were to be strictly construed or that the absence of criminal liability served to excuse a sex offender from fulfilling otherwise mandated registration activities. *Id.* Regardless, even a criminal



statute should not be so restrictively interpreted as to undercut its obvious public purpose. *E.g.*, *State v. Hearn*, 797 N.W.2d 577, 587 (Iowa 2011); *State v. Nelson*, 178 N.W.2d 434, 437 (Iowa 1970) (“[T]hough penal laws are to be construed strictly, they are not to be construed so strictly as to defeat the obvious intention of the Legislature.”).

### ***Convicted of a Registrable Offense***

Registration with the State’s sex offender registry may be based solely upon the fact of a person’s criminal conviction of a requisite sex offense. *See Connecticut Dep’t of Public Safety v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 1, 123 S. Ct. 1160 (2003). It is uncontested that Maxwell was found guilty by a judge of engaging in lascivious conduct with a minor in violation of Iowa Code section 709.14. (*See* SOF at ¶ 3; App. 22); *see also State v. Maxwell*, No. 15-1392, 2016 WL 6652361 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 9, 2016). Iowa law designates lascivious conduct with a minor in violation of section 709.14 as a tier II offense for sex offender registry purposes. Iowa Code § 692A.102(1)(b)(10).

A judicial finding of guilt constitutes a conviction under Iowa Code chapter 692A. *See* Iowa Code § 692A.101(7) (defining “convicted”). The Legislature recognized that some criminal convictions may be successfully

appealed when it clarified that a conviction for sex offender registration purposes does not include a finding of guilt that has been “reversed or otherwise set aside.” *Id.* Thus, until such time as his conviction for lascivious conduct is reversed or set aside, Maxwell stands convicted of a registrable sex offense and he is obligated to register as provided in Iowa Code chapter 692A. *See* Iowa Code §§ 692A.101(7), 692A.102(1)(b)(10), 692A.103(1). The Iowa Code does not create any exceptions for persons whose criminal cases are pending on appeal.

### ***Immediate Obligation to Register***

Iowa Code section 692A.103 identifies who is required to register as a sex offender in the state of Iowa and the date upon which credit toward fulfilling that obligation commences. Specifically, any person convicted of a registrable sex offense who resides in Iowa must register. Iowa Code § 692A.103. Maxwell’s duty to register as a sex offender accrued immediately upon his lascivious conduct conviction as he was already an Iowa resident. As recognized by the District Court, only incarceration would excuse an adult offender like Maxwell from immediately registering. (6/29/2016 Order at p. 7; App. 102); *see* Iowa Code §§ 692A.103(2); 692A.104(1).

Maxwell argues that because none of the events listed in Iowa Code section 692A.103(1)(a) - (f) have yet occurred, he is not obligated to report and register as a sex offender.<sup>3</sup> Even if subsections (a) - (f) of section 692A.103(1) are to be considered triggers upon which the duty to register commences, the District Court correctly held that Maxwell was released – at least temporarily – from his obligation to report to and serve a term of incarceration by his posting of an appeal bond. (4/7/2016 Order at pp. 6-9; 6/29/2016 Order at p. 7; App. 81-84, 102). Consequently, Iowa Code section 692A.103(1)(c) did in fact trigger his duty to immediately register as a sex offender. *Id.*

This Court has already clarified what the word “release” denotes within the context of Iowa Code chapter 692A. *See In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408. The Court specifically held that in applying Iowa Code chapter 692A’s registration mandate, “release” is “simply the antithesis of

---

<sup>3</sup> Reading Iowa Code chapter 692A in its full context, the events delineated in Iowa Code section 692A.103(1) could be read as simply the dates from which to start counting the ten-year or longer term an offender is required to register. *See State v. Edouard*, 854 N.W.2d 421, 435 (Iowa 2014) (“Statutes must be read in their entirety”); *Andover Volunteer Fire Dep’t*, 787 N.W.2d at 82 (“The context of a statute is an important consideration in the search for legislative intent”). Conviction and residency are the events that actually give rise to Maxwell’s registration duty.

incarceration.” *In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408. Thus, the entry of any court order or other judicial action that allows a convicted sex offender to “avoid physical confinement” operates to “release” that offender from incarceration for purposes of applying Iowa Code section 692A.103(1)(c). *See In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 408. In view of this established understanding of the use of the word release in Iowa Code section 692A.103(1), this Court should reject, as it did in *In Interest of S.M.M.*, Maxwell’s argument that he cannot be released from incarceration – a form of custody – before he actually commences serving a jail term. *In Interest of S.M.M.*, 558 N.W.2d at 407-08.

Although *In Interest of S.M.M.* came down in 1997, the Legislature has not deemed it necessary to define or clarify the use of the word release within the context of Iowa Code chapter 692A’s registration mandate. *See Ackelson, L.L.C.*, 832 N.W.2d at 688 (“[W]e presume the legislature is aware of our cases that interpret its statutes.”). Even though Iowa Code chapter 692A as a whole was substantially amended in 2009, the relevant text of the statutory language interpreted by the Court in *In Interest of S.M.M.* was not materially altered. *Compare* Iowa Code § 692A.2(1) (1997) *with* Iowa Code § 692A.113(1) (2016); *see generally* 2009 Iowa Acts

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